RECEIVED

04-15-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP002968-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RAFAEL D. HONIG,

Defendant-Appellant.

On a Notice of Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Ellen R. Brostrom Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

COLLEEN MARION Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1089028

Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-5176 marionc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

Mr. Honig's 6-year-old granddaughter reported that Mr. Honig sexually abused her and her 4-year-old sister. The first person she told was Mr. Honig's son-in-law Raymond. Mr. Honig and Raymond had a very contentious relationship. Raymond bragged to an acquaintance, George Colon, that he knew how to "get rid" of people he disliked, and one way was to accuse a person of molesting children.

1. Was trial counsel ineffective for failing to call George Colon as a witness at trial?

The circuit court answered no.

2. Was trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to other acts evidence that one of the alleged victims said Mr. Honig also touched other children?

The circuit court answered no.

3. Was trial counsel ineffective for failing to introduce a prior inconsistent statement of one of the alleged victims that differed significantly from her testimony at trial?

The circuit court answered no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication is likely not warranted. The issues presented apply well-established law to the facts of the case. Oral argument is not requested, but would be welcomed if ordered

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In June 2011, Mr. Honig moved from Puerto Rico to Milwaukee to be with his adult daughters, Ziomara and Judith. (52:48). A year later, Ziomara's 6-year-old daughter Y.H. told her uncle, Raymond (Judith's husband), that her grandpa touched her vagina, and did the same to her 4-year-old sister Y.C. (52:114-15). Raymond was alone with Y.H. when she allegedly made the disclosure. (52: 123).

The State charged Mr. Honig with Count 1, first degree sexual assault of a child, intercourse with a child under 12, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b) and Count 2, first degree sexual assault of a child, contact with a child under 13, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(e). (2). Mr. Honig entered not guilty pleas and the case was tried to a jury.

Before trial, Y.H. and Y.C. participated in videorecorded forensic interviews at the Child Protection Center. The circuit court ruled that 6-year-old Y.H's interview was admissible in the State's case-in-chief under Wis. Stat. § 908.08.² (49:2-3). The prosecutor acknowledged that 4-year-old Y.C.'s interview was not. Y.C. did not demonstrate an ability to tell the difference between a truth and a lie, nor did she promise to tell the truth. (49:13-14).

¹ All citations to statutes are to the 2011-2012 Wisconsin Statutes.

² Section 908.08 states: "The court may admit into evidence the audiovisual recording of a child witness's statement under certain circumstances, including a showing that the statement was made upon oath or affirmation or, if the child's developmental level is inappropriate for the administration of an oath or affirmation in the usual form, upon the child's understanding that false statements are punishable and of the importance of telling the truth."

Defense counsel informed the court of a potential defense witness named George Colon who would testify to what counsel characterized as "other acts." (49:6). George told counsel that Y.H. and Y.C.'s uncle Raymond told him he knew ways to get rid of people and one way was to accuse someone of molesting children. (49: 6-7). Defense counsel indicated that he thought the evidence was relevant but probably inadmissible. (49:8). The court told counsel he could ask Raymond if he said those things to George, but if Raymond said "no" then counsel would not be allowed to impeach him with extrinsic evidence.³ (49:9-11). Defense counsel did not ask Raymond about the statement, nor did he seek to introduce George as a witness at trial.

The witnesses at trial were Police Officer Shannon Orvis, the girls' uncle Raymond Cruz, Y.H., Y.C., the girls' mother Ziomara, a nurse practitioner at the Child Protection Center, and Mr. Honig. Both parties told the jury that the case came down to witness credibility. There was no other evidence of the alleged crimes.

In his opening statement, defense counsel told the jury that the case was about Mr. Honig's son-in-law Raymond, being "biased" and having bad feelings toward Mr. Honig. (51:27). Counsel directed the jury to the fact that Raymond was alone when Y.H. allegedly told him about the abuse. There were no other witnesses to the alleged disclosure. (52:123)

³ The circuit court was mistaken. Extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement of a witness is admissible if the witness had an opportunity to explain or deny the statement. § 906.13(2)(a)1. "Extrinsic evidence is testimony obtained by calling additional witnesses as opposed to evidence obtained by the cross-examination of a witness." *State v. Sonnenberg*, 117 Wis. 2d 159, 344 N.W.2d 95 (1984).

Ziomara testified that Mr. Honig came to live with her in the summer of 2011. (52:48). At the time, her sister Judith and brother-in-law Raymond also lived there, in addition to Ziomara's roommate Genesis. (52:53-54). Shortly after Mr. Honig moved in, Judith and her family moved out. (52:121). At some point, Mr. Honig moved out of Ziomara's home and went to stay with Judith and Raymond for a short while before getting his own apartment. (52:60,63). Later, Raymond left his wife, moved back in with Ziomara, and began dating her roommate, Genesis. (52:54). He was living there when Y.H. made the alleged disclosure. (52:54).

Raymond testified that Y.H. told him about the sexual abuse while he was outside of Ziomara's house repairing the porch. (52:114). Y.H. came outside and sat down on the step. Raymond testified that she looked sad, so he asked her what was wrong and she said that grandpa touched her "cookie," which Raymond knew to be a nickname for vagina. (52:116).

Raymond acknowledged that he had a heated argument with Mr. Honig a few weeks prior to Y.H.'s alleged disclosure. He admitted to sending Mr. Honig threatening text messages. (52:118-119). However, he said that the argument, which was about ownership of a truck, had blown over quickly. "I was mad for a day." (52:118). Defense counsel asked him if he resented Mr. Honig because when Mr. Honig moved in with Ziomara, Raymond and his family had to move out to make room. Raymond denied being upset about moving. (52:121). Raymond acknowledged two criminal convictions, the fact that he was presently in jail, and that he had an alias of Adrian Gonzales. (52:113).

Ziomara testified that she was at the store when Raymond called her and told her what Y.H. said. (52:50). She called the police. Nurse practitioner Judy Walczak conducted

physical exams of the girls. She did not note any injuries or abnormalities. (52:88-89). Officer Shannon Orvis conducted forensic interviews of the girls at the Child Protection Center. He testified about his training on the "step-wise" protocol, used to interview children in a non-leading, non-suggestive manner. (51:30-33). He testified that Y.H. seemed to understand the difference between the truth and a lie, was able to correct an incorrect statement, and said "I don't know" when she did not know the answer to a question. However, Y.C. was not capable of the same. *Id.* at (51:41-42). "Her ability to understand for example the concept of truth and lie was very, very limited..." (51:42).

The State played the video-taped interview of Y.H. to the jury. (20:00-29:00). In the video, Y.H. told a story about an incident at the hotel Mr. Honig worked at. She said it happened "seven weeks" ago. (20:00). She said she was standing with her mom when her grandpa "snatched" her. She was holding her mom's hand when her grandpa took her fingers off one by one and took her away into a room where he touched her private with his hand and mouth. She said it happened in room number 143. (25:00). Y.H. said her mom started screaming her name and trying to get into the room, but the door was locked. (23:00). She said her mom scratched at the door until her fake fingernails fell off. (28:00). Her mom told her uncle and they called the cops.

Y.H. also talked about another time it happened at her old house and said "bugs and types of animals started coming through the walls." (29:30). Y.H. said that Mr. Honig also touched her cousins. She said, "he always like touches little girls -- in the privates." (20:00). The interviewer asked which

⁴ The substantive portion of the interview begins at approximately 20 minutes and continues until approximately 31 minutes.

girls, and she replied, "like me, my sister, and my um my cousin, and my um my other cousin." Additionally, she said that Mr. Honig touched her "little cousin" by "putting his mouth on her private" while they were at the hotel. (22:00).

After showing the video, the State called Y.H. to testify. Y.H. testified that her grandpa put his finger in her private and mouth on her private more than once. (52:16-17). It happened at her old house, at a hotel, a park, and in a car. She said he told her not to tell her mommy or he would spank her. (52: 20). She testified that he did the same thing to her sister. (52:23-24). Y.H. also testified that her mom walked in on him doing this and "got shocked." (52:24). Y.H. said the first person she told was her mom. (52:26). A few questions later she said the first person she told was her uncle Raymond. (52:30). Defense counsel asked Y.H. if Raymond ever told her to lie and she said "no." (52:38). He asked if Raymond ever told her to say that her grandpa did bad things to her. Y.H. said "I don't remember." (52:38-39). He asked if she talked to Raymond a lot, and she said "yes." (52:39).

Ziomara testified that Y.H.'s story about being "snatched" away from her at the hotel was not true. (52:57). She explained that Mr. Honig did not live at the hotel, he just worked there. (52:57). Y.H. had never been past the hotel lobby. (52:64). She denied ever walking in on anything inappropriate at the house. (52:58). Ziomara testified that Y.H. had been having nightmares. (52:58). Defense counsel asked Ziomara whether there was any bad blood between her father and her brother-in-law Raymond. She said it was none of her business. (52:59).

The State also called 4-year-old Y.C. as a witness. Y.C. was not asked to complete an oath or promise to tell the truth. The prosecutor proceeded to ask series of leading

questions. Defense counsel did not object. Using a doll, the prosecutor went through each part of the body, asking if Mr. Honig did something to that part. When she put her finger on the doll's vaginal area, Y.C. said "yes." (52:73-74). When the prosecutor asked how it felt, she said it hurt. (74). When asked how many times it happened, she said one time. (52:77). Defense counsel asked Y.C. if she spent a lot of time with her uncle Raymond. (80). He asked if Raymond ever told her to say anything about her grandpa. When Y.C. did not respond, counsel said, "if you answer 'yes' or 'no,' I won't ask you anymore questions. Okay?" She said "no." (81).

Mr. Honig testified and denied the allegations. (53:19-20). He testified about his contentious relationship with Raymond. The problems started when Raymond left his daughter, Judith, and started dating Ziomara's roommate, Genesis. (53:14). Mr. Honig also argued with Raymond about ownership of a truck. Judith bought the truck, and after Raymond left her, she needed money, so Mr. Honig agreed to buy the truck from her. Raymond was angry and said the truck belonged to him. (53:15). Mr. Honig also gave Judith money to pay the bills, which also angered Raymond. (53:15). Contrary to what Raymond said, Mr. Honig denied that their fights blew over quickly. (53:18). Raymond threatened him in person and by text message. (53:15).

The jury found Mr. Honig guilty of both charges. The circuit court sentenced him to 25 years of initial confinement and 6-and-a-half years of extended supervision (the mandatory minimum under Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b)) on each count, concurrent. (20). Mr. Honig filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (19). Undersigned counsel was appointed and filed a motion for a new trial based on ineffective assistance of counsel. (34). The circuit court

ordered briefing. (35). The State filed a response, followed by Mr. Honig's reply. (36, 37). On November 17, 2014, the circuit court held a *Machner*⁵ hearing on the motion, and at its conclusion, denied all claims. (56; App. 103-151). A written order was entered on December 4, 2014. (59:App. 152). This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. Mr. Honig is Entitled to a New Trial Because He was Deprived of his Constitutional Right to Effective Assistance of Counsel.

Mr. Honig's trial counsel committed multiple serious and inexcusable errors at trial that undermine confidence in the outcome of this case. Counsel was aware of a material defense witness and inexplicably failed to call him as a witness at trial. In addition, counsel allowed the State to admit prejudicial other acts evidence that Mr. Honig assaulted other children. Finally, counsel failed to present one of the alleged victim's prior statement to police that differed in important ways from her testimony at trial.

A. Standard of review and legal principles.

A defendant has a constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and Article I, § 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution. *State v. Smith*, 207 Wis. 2d 259, 273, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997).

To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show (1) deficient performance,

⁵ State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

and (2) prejudice. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). Deficient performance is shown where counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. *Id.* at 688. Conduct that is part of a "reasonable trial strategy" is not considered deficient. *State v. Domke*, 2011 WI 95, 337 Wis. 2d 268, 805 N.W.2d 365. In an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the circuit court must hold a hearing to allow trial counsel the opportunity to explain or deny the allegations. *Machner*, 92 Wis. 2d 797.

Prejudice is proven where there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *Id.* at 694. A "reasonable probability" is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. *Id.* Reviewing courts should evaluate multiple allegations of deficient performance for their "cumulative effect." *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶63, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305. The focus of this inquiry is not on the outcome of the trial, but on "the reliability of the proceedings." *State v. Pitsch*, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 642, 369 N.W.2d 711 (1985).

The trial court's findings of historical fact are accepted unless clearly erroneous; however, whether the attorney's conduct was deficient and prejudicial are questions of law that this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Harvey*, 139 Wis. 2d 353, 376, 407 N.W.2d 235 (1987).

B. Counsel was ineffective for failing to call a potential defense witness, whose testimony would have closed important gaps in the theory of defense.

Counsel was aware that an acquaintance of Mr. Honig and Raymond, George Colon, was available to present highly material facts favorable to the defense. However, despite George's willingness to testify, counsel inexplicably failed to subpoena him or call him as a witness at trial.

At the November 17, 2014, *Machner* hearing, the circuit court heard testimony on the subject. (56). George Colon testified that he was Mr. Honig's coworker at a hotel, and met Raymond through Mr. Honig. (56:18; App. 120). George testified about a conversation he had with Raymond in August of 2012 (just weeks before the allegations against Mr. Honig came to light). (56:18; App. 120). Raymond came to George's house to do some carpentry work. (56:19; App. 121). George made lunch on the backyard grill, and the two men began conversing. (56:19-20; App. 121-22). George testified that:

[Raymond] brought up how he was so proud about when he lived in New York and stuff about getting rid of people that he disliked and things that they did, and he brought up about how to get rid of a person, a drug dealer. He also brought up about using children to make accusations against adults, especially people that have some type of conviction.

(56:20; App. 122).

When asked what "getting rid of" someone meant, George said "call the police on them." (56:20; App. 122). George said Raymond talked about how to "get children and counsel them and to charge someone with molestation." (56:20; App. 122).

George also testified that he was aware that Raymond had a very negative opinion of Mr. Honig. (56:20). Raymond and Mr. Honig were fighting over who owned a truck. In addition, Raymond told George that "I didn't know Ralph⁶

⁶ "Ralph" is a nickname for Rafael. (56:19).

like I should." (56:21; App. 123). After this conversation, George told Mr. Honig he should move out Raymond's house. (56:21; App. 123). Mr. Honig was arrested a couple weeks later, on September 1, 2012. (56:22; App. 124).

George testified that he spoke to Mr. Honig's trial attorney on the phone and went to his office twice. (56:22-23; App. 124-25). They discussed the possibility of George being a witness at trial. (56:23; App. 125). George agreed to be a witness and went to every court date. (56:23; App. 125). On the first day of trial, November 14, 2012, counsel told George he would need to wait in the hallway. (56:24; App. 126). Later, he came out and told George to leave. (56:24; App. 126). George came back to the courthouse the next day. (56:24; App. 126). Counsel told him he was not needed, so George went home. (56:25; App. 127).

Defense counsel also testified at the *Machner* hearing. He agreed that part of his trial strategy was to argue that Raymond came up with the allegations. (56:6; App. 108). He was aware that Raymond and Mr. Honig had been fighting about a truck and housing arrangements. (56:7; App.109). He agreed that he met with George and George told him about the conversation he had with Raymond about getting rid of people. (56:7-8; App. 109-10). Counsel testified that he considered calling George as a witness, but acknowledged that he did not subpoena him. (56:8; App. 110). He remembered that George was in the hallway during the first day of trial. (56:8; App. 110). He did not recall if George was present on subsequent days. (56:12; App.114).

Trial counsel testified that he did not recall whether he considered that George's testimony could become admissible as a prior inconsistent statement. (56:10; App. 112). He did not recall why he did not ask Raymond about the statement,

given that the court had ruled that the line of questioning would be allowed. (56:8; App. 110). Counsel testified that "after the first day of trial, it seemed to me that [George] was uncooperative and didn't want to testify. I don't recall that's exactly why I didn't call him or try to call him." (56:12; App. 114). On the other hand, counsel also testified that he thought maybe the defense theory had become more that someone else had abused the girls. (56:9; App. 111). However, he acknowledged that he never told the jury about another possible perpetrator at trial. (56:9; App. 111). Nor did he advance this theory in either opening or closing arguments.

The State agreed it seemed that counsel "forgot" to ask Raymond about the alleged statement. (56:39; App. 141). The State did not argue that counsel had a strategic reason for failing to ask the question.

The circuit court disagreed, finding that counsel *did* have a reason for not calling George as a witness because George did not appear to be cooperative. (56:42; App.144). "It's a trial strategy." (56:43; App.145). The court disagreed with the State that counsel "forgot" to ask Raymond about it. Instead, the court said "presumably if he had already made the decision that George was not likely to be a helpful witness to Mr. Honig after all, then why would he ask the predicate question?" (56:44; App. 146). The circuit court ruled that there was no deficient performance and no prejudice because the issue of "bad blood" between the men was in the record. (56:44; App. 146). Notably, the court did not find that George was not a credible witness. Nor did the court rule that his testimony was irrelevant or inadmissible.

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