### **RECEIVED**

06-15-2015

# STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS C O U R T O F A P P E A LOS WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP2968-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RAFAEL D. HONIG,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ELLEN R. BROSTROM, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

JEFFREY J. KASSEL Assistant Attorney General State Bar No. 1009170

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Given the nature of the arguments raised in the brief of defendant-appellant Rafael D. Honig, the State exercises its option not to present a statement of the case. See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19(3)(a). The relevant facts and procedural history will be discussed in the argument section of this brief.

#### ARGUMENT

Honig was convicted after a jury found him guilty of two counts of first-degree sexual assault of a child (15:1; 16:1; 22:1; A-Ap. 101). The victims were his granddaughters, three-year-old Y.C. and five-year-old Y.H. (2:1-2).<sup>1</sup>

Honig argues on appeal that his trial lawyer was ineffective for failing to call a defense witness, George Colon, "whose testimony would have closed important gaps in the theory of defense," Honig's brief at 9, for failing to impeach Y.C.'s trial testimony with inconsistent statements in her recorded forensic interview, and for failing to object to references in Y.H.'s recorded forensic interview to statements that Honig sexually

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Honig states that Y.H. and Y.C. were six and four years old, respectively. *See* Honig's brief at 2. Those were the girls' ages at the time of trial (52:13, 68). The complaint and information alleged that the offenses happened before they turned six and four (2:1-2; 5:1), and Y.H. testified that she was five years old when Honig assaulted her (52:26).

abused her cousins.<sup>2</sup> Because the circuit court correctly decided that Honig is not entitled to relief on any of those claims, this court should affirm the judgment of conviction and the order denying postconviction relief.

#### I. APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARDS.

A defendant claiming ineffective assistance of counsel must prove both that his lawyer's representation was deficient and that he suffered prejudice as a result of that deficient performance. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). If the court concludes that the defendant has not proven one prong of this test, it need not address the other. *Id.* at 697.

To prove deficient performance, a defendant must show specific acts or omissions of counsel that were "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." Id. at 690. The court "strongly presume[s]" that counsel has rendered adequate assistance. Id. Professionally competent assistance encompasses "wide range" a behaviors and "[a] fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." *Id.* at 689.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Honig's postconviction motion also alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to Y.C.'s testimony because she did not take an oath or promise to testify truthfully (34:10-13). He does not raise that issue on appeal. See A.O. Smith Corp. v. Allstate Ins. Co., 222 Wis. 2d 475, 491, 588 N.W.2d 285 (Ct. App. 1998) ("an issue raised in the trial court, but not raised on appeal, is deemed abandoned").

A lawyer's performance is not deficient unless he or she "made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." *Id.* at 687.

In *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86 (2011), the Supreme Court emphasized that "[s]urmounting *Strickland*'s high bar is never an easy task." *Id.* at 105 (quoted source omitted). With respect to the deficient performance prong of the *Strickland* test, the Court explained:

Even under de novo review, the standard for judging counsel's representation is a most deferential one. Unlike a later reviewing court, the attorney observed the relevant proceedings, knew of materials outside the record, and interacted with the client, with opposing counsel, and with the judge. It is "all too tempting" to "second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or sentence." The question is whether representation amounted attorney's incompetence under "prevailing professional norms," not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom.

#### *Id.* (citations omitted).

To demonstrate prejudice, the defendant must affirmatively prove that the alleged defect in counsel's performance actually had an adverse effect on the defense. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693; State v. Reed, 2002 WI App 209, ¶17, 256 Wis. 2d 1019, 650 N.W.2d 885. The defendant cannot meet his burden merely by showing that the error had effect conceivable on the Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693. Rather, he must show that there is "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different.

reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* at 694.

The Supreme Court has explained the demanding standard a defendant must meet to establish prejudice under *Strickland*:

assessing prejudice under Strickland, the question is not whether a court can be certain counsel's performance had no effect on the outcome or whether it is possible a reasonable doubt might have been established if counsel acted differently. Instead, Strickland asks whether it is "reasonably likely" the result would have been different. This does not require a showing that counsel's actions "more likely than not altered the outcome," but the difference between Strickland's prejudice standard and a more-probable-than-not standard is slight and matters "only in the rarest case." The likelihood of a different resultmustbe substantial, not just conceivable.

*Harrington*, 562 U.S. at 111-12 (citations omitted; emphasis added).

Whether a lawyer rendered ineffective assistance is a mixed question of law and fact. State v. Nielsen, 2001 WI App 192, ¶14, 247 Wis. 2d 466, 634 N.W.2d 325. The trial court's findings of fact will be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* Whether the defendant's proof satisfies either the deficient performance or the prejudice prong is a question of law that an appellate court reviews without deference to the trial court's conclusions. *Id.* 

### II. HONIG'S TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE.

A. Honig's theory of defense was not, as he claims, that Raymond Cruz made up the allegations and coached the victims.

Before responding to Honig's specific claims of ineffective assistance, the State will address an assertion that runs through his appellate brief and that is the foundation of two of his claims: that "[t]he theory of defense was that Raymond [Cruz] made up the allegations and coached the girls." Honig's brief at 24; see also id. at 11, 14, 23. The record demonstrates that that was not the theory of defense, as Honig's counsel did not raise that theory in his opening statement or in his closing argument.

In his opening statement, defense counsel told the jury that he anticipated that the girls' mother would testify that Cruz told her that Y.H. told him about the "terrible things" that Honig did to Y.H. (51:25-26). Counsel told the jury that they would see that Cruz has "a clear bias" and "bad feelings toward" Honig. He noted that Cruz was alone when Y.H. disclosed the abuse to him, that Cruz then had Y.H. repeat what she told him to her mother's boyfriend, and that Cruz had told detectives that he had noted that Y.H.'s behavior had changed over the previous few days (51:27).

Nothing in the opening statement suggested to the jury that the theory of defense was that Cruz made up the allegations and coached the girls. Defense counsel told the jury that the evidence would show that Cruz was biased against Honig, not that Cruz invented the allegations and coached the girls.

In his closing argument, defense counsel made it explicit that the theory of defense was not that Cruz put the girls up to it. Counsel said, "We get to Raymond Cruz, and I'm not even trying to insinuate that he, you know, made up this story to get the girls to say to, you know, get Rafael [Honig] locked up, but, you know, he does have a credibility problem" (53:59). Defense counsel, who had called Cruz as a witness, told the jury that "I didn't get him up here to testify that, 'Yeah, I told the girls this,' or 'I put this idea in their heads,' or 'Rafael didn't do it" (id.). He called Cruz to testify, he said, to allow the jury to see who Cruz was (id.).

At the *Machner* hearing, defense counsel agreed with postconviction counsel that the theory of defense "was that the allegations were untrue and that the children were not telling the truth what happened" (56:6:A-Ap. Postconviction counsel then asked, "And part of that theory of defense was that Raymond, the uncle, would have come up with the allegations himself and coached the girls through it?" (id.). Trial counsel responded, "Either that or that another person known to the family had abused the children and perhaps then it got twisted around to the point where it was Mr. Honig who was the one that had been accused -- or was essentially blamed for it" (id.).

That answer did not confirm that the theory of the defense was that the allegations were Cruz's doing. In a follow-up question, postconviction counsel asked trial counsel whether he remembered, "in opening statements, indicating that the theory was that Raymond [Cruz] came up with the allegations" (id.). Trial counsel began to answer – he said, "I believe" – when postconviction counsel interjected: "The bias against Mr. Honig?" (id.). Trial counsel answered that he recalled saying that (id.).

Trial counsel was correct; he did bring up Cruz's bias in his opening statement (51:27). But he never suggested that Cruz invented the allegations or coached the victims (51:24-28).

There was no evidence adduced at trial that would have supported a claim that Cruz was responsible for the girls' accusations. Y.H. testified on direct examination that Cruz was the first adult she talked to about what Honig had done (52:30). She testified that Cruz was working on the porch of her new house when she told him what had happened (52:42).

On cross-examination, defense counsel asked her whether Cruz ever told her to lie; she answered, "No" (52:38). Defense counsel asked if Cruz ever told her to say that her grandfather did bad things to her; she answered, "I don't remember" (52:38-39). Defense counsel then referred to Y.H.'s testimony that Honig "always touches little girls in the private" and asked her whether that was "something that Raymond [Cruz] or somebody else said?" (52:40). Y.H. answered, "No" (id.).

When Y.C. testified, defense counsel asked her if Cruz had told her "anything about your grandpa, your abuelo, about things that he maybe did? Do you remember Raymond telling you anything about your abuelo?" (52:81). Y.C. answered, "No" (id.).

When Cruz, called as a defense witness, testified, defense counsel asked him if he ever told Y.H. or Y.C. "to say anything about bad things that grandpa did?" (52:119). Cruz answered, "No, sir. There was actually no reason to. Why would I?" (*id.*).

Against that factual background, the State will address Honig's claims that he received ineffective assistance from his trial lawyer.

- B. Trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to call George Colon as a witness.
  - 1. Counsel had a valid strategic reason for not calling Colon.

When addressing Honig's contention that his trial counsel performed deficiently, this court "start[s] with the proposition that strategic decisions by a lawyer are virtually invulnerable to second-guessing." State v. Westmoreland, 2008 WI App 15, ¶20, 307 Wis. 2d 429, 744 N.W.2d 919 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690); see also State v. Maloney, 2004 WI App 141, ¶23, 275 Wis. 2d 557, 685 N.W.2d 620 (holding that the trial court's determination that counsel had a reasonable trial strategy "is virtually unassailable in an ineffective assistance of counsel analysis"). The circuit court found that trial counsel did not call Colon as a witness for a valid strategic reason: that counsel perceived Colon to be uncooperative (56:42-43; A-Ap. 144-45).

Honig argues that this court should not defer to this finding of fact because it is clearly erroneous. See Honig's brief at 12-13 and n.7. The State disagrees.

Under the clearly erroneous standard, a factual finding will be overturned only if it is contrary to the great weight and preponderance of the evidence. See State v. Martwick, 2000 WI 5, ¶18 n.8, 231 Wis. 2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552; see also United States v. Markling, 7 F.3d 1309, 1319 (7th Cir. 1993) ("We overturn a district court's factual finding only if that finding is clearly erroneous or, put another way, only if that finding 'strike[s] us as wrong with the force of a five-week old, unrefrigerated dead fish.") "It is for the trial court, not the appellate court, to resolve conflicts in testimony." Global Steel Products Corp. Ecklund, 2002 WI App 91, ¶10, 253 Wis. 2d 588, 644 N.W.2d 269. "[A] factual finding is not clearly erroneous merely because a different fact-finder could draw different inferences from the record." State v. Wenk, 2001 WI App 268, ¶8, 248 Wis. 2d 714, 637 N.W.2d 417.

At the *Machner* hearing, trial counsel was asked on cross-examination why he decided not to call Colon as a witness (56:12; A-Ap. 114). Counsel responded:

I had some conversations with Mr. Colon. He had in fact brought over trial clothes for Mr. Honig some time prior to the trial. And then on the phone with him he had mentioned something about either being out of state or having surgery or both. After the first day of trial, it seemed to me that he was uncooperative and didn't want to testify. I don't recall that's exactly why I didn't call him or try to call him, but --

(56:12; A-Ap. 114.)

Trial counsel's explanation was not a model of clarity. But given his statement that "it seemed to me that he was uncooperative and didn't want to testify" (*id.*), it was not clearly erroneous for the circuit court to find that trial counsel had a strategic reason – his perception that Colon was uncooperative – for not calling Colon to testify.

Honig complains that trial counsel "gave no reason why he would have thought that George [Colon] was uncooperative." Honig's brief at 13. But it is Honig's burden to prove that trial counsel was ineffective, see Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, and to elicit the relevant testimony at the Machner hearing. See State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979). He cannot complain that trial counsel gave no reason for believing that Colon would be uncooperative when he never asked that question of trial counsel (56:4-14; A-Ap. 106-16).

2. Colon's testimony would not have been admissible.

There is another reason why Honig cannot demonstrate deficient performance. Trial counsel does not perform deficiently by failing to seek the admission of inadmissible evidence. *See State v. Wirts*, 176 Wis. 2d 174, 181, 500 N.W.2d 317 (Ct. App. 1993). Honig has not shown that Colon's testimony would have been admissible.

Honig argues that Colon's testimony would have been admissible on either of two grounds. This is how he describes the first of those grounds:

> First, George's testimony was admissible as specific evidence of a witness' character for

untruthfulness. Wis. Stat. § 906.08(1) and (2). Specific instances of untruthfulness may be proven by extrinsic evidence unless the issue is collateral. Bias is never collateral and extrinsic evidence may be used.

Honig's brief at 13 (citing State v. Williamson, 84 Wis. 2d 370, 383, 267 N.W.2d 337 (1978), abrogated on other grounds by Manson v. State, 101 Wis. 2d 413, 304 N.W.2d 729 (1981), and Daniel D. Blinka, Evidence of Character, Habit, and "Similar Acts" in Wisconsin Civil Litigation, 73 Marq. L. Rev. 283, 290 n.19 (1989)).

Honig's contention that "[s]pecific instances of untruthfulness may be proven by extrinsic evidence unless the issue is collateral" is wrong. Wisconsin Stat. § 906.08 provides in relevant part:

- (1) OPINION AND REPUTATION EVIDENCE OF CHARACTER. Except as provided in s. 972.11(2) [the "Rape Shield" statute], the credibility of a witness may be attacked or supported by evidence in the form of reputation or opinion, but subject to the following limitations:
- (a) The evidence may refer only to character for truthfulness or untruthfulness.
- (b) Except with respect to an accused who testifies in his or her own behalf, evidence of truthful character is admissible only after the character of the witness for truthfulness has been attacked by opinion or reputation evidence or otherwise.
- (2) SPECIFIC INSTANCES OF CONDUCT. Specific instances of the conduct of a witness, for the purpose of attacking or supporting the witness's credibility, other than a conviction of a crime or an adjudication of delinquency as provided in s. 906.09, may not be proved by extrinsic evidence. They may, however, subject to s. 972.11(2), if probative of

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